S252445

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD,	
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA) No.
CHAPTER,)
Plaintiff and Respondent,	Court of AppealNo. A149328
VS.)
CITY OF HAYWARD, et al.,	Alameda County Superior CourtCase No. RG15-785743(Hon. Evelio Grillo)
Defendants and Appellants.)
	_)

AFTER A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT DIVISION THREE

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amitai Schwartz (SB #55187)

Law Offices of Amitai Schwartz 2000 Powell Street, Ste. 1286 Emeryville, CA 94608 (510) 597.1775 (510) 597.0957 (fax) attorneys@schwartzlaw.com

Alan L. Schlosser (SBN #49957)

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The National Lawyers Guild, San Francisco Bay Area Chapter made California Public Records Act requests to the City of Hayward seeking copies of police camera videos taken at a political demonstration protesting police killings of two unarmed black men.

The City agreed to produce electronic copies of the videos after it redacted out certain portions. It sent the Lawyers Guild a bill for the cost of redaction. The Court of Appeal held that requiring a requester to pay the costs for redacting an electronic record is permitted by the Public Records Act.

The questions presented for review are:

- Whether a year 2000 amendment to the California
 Public Records Act (Gov. Code section 6253.9, subd.
 (b)) allows a public agency to shift the cost of redacting electronic records to a requester, when the cost of redaction cannot be imposed for paper records?
- 2. If the statutory language of the amendment is ambiguous, as found by the Court of Appeal, does Article I, section 3(b) of the California Constitution compel a construction in this case that does not limit access to redacted electronic records by the ability to pay?

II. WHY THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

Throughout California, electronic records are replacing and supplementing paper records. This case addresses the price of access to public records in electronic form under the California Public Records Act, Gov. Code sections 6250 et. seq.

The case affects every state and local agency in California because they all keep electronic records. Like several other recent Public Records Act cases decided by this Court, "[t]his case concerns how laws, originally designed to cover paper documents, apply to evolving methods of electronic communication." *City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (2017) 2 Cal. 5th 608, 615 (public access to communications about the conduct of the public's business located on government employees' private devices). *American. Civil Liberties Union Foundation v. Superior Court* (2017) 3 Cal. 5th 1032 (access to automatic license plate reader data); *Sierra Club v. Superior Court* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157 (access to GIS database).

The case arises from a request for copies of police body worn camera videos that were redacted by the City of Hayward. The decision, however, has much broader implications. Prior to the Court of Appeal's published opinion in this case, persons seeking to inspect and copy paper records could do so knowing that the only costs that could be imposed on them were the direct costs of duplication (*North County Parents Organization For Children with Special Needs v. Department of Education* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144, 148), and that

agencies had to absorb the other expenses such as the labor costs of redacting out exempt portions of the records. This limit on cost shifting was a key factor in the Public Records Act living up to its goal of being a mechanism that all Californians could use to keep government open and transparent.

The case turns on the meaning of Gov. Code section 6253.9, subd. (b) [section 6253.9(b)], a section of the California Public Records Act that was added in year 2000 during the infancy of electronic record keeping and video camera technology and long before police started wearing video cameras.¹

¹ Gov. Code section 6253.9 provides in part: (a) Unless otherwise prohibited by law, any agency that has information that constitutes an identifiable public record not exempt from disclosure pursuant to this chapter that is in an electronic format shall make that information available in an electronic format when requested by any person and, when applicable, shall comply with the following:

⁽¹⁾ The agency shall make the information available in any electronic format in which it holds the information.

⁽²⁾ Each agency shall provide a copy of an electronic record in the format requested if the requested format is one that has been used by the agency to create copies for its own use or for provision to other agencies. The cost of duplication shall be limited to the direct cost of producing a copy of a record in an electronic format.

⁽b) Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the requester shall bear the cost of producing a copy of the record, including the cost to construct a record, and the (continued...)

Although the Public Records Act does not allow an agency to charge for redacting paper records (Gov. Code section 6253(b)), the question here addresses whether electronic records are different when they require redaction in order to fulfill the Public Records Act requirement that reasonably segregable portions of records must be available "after deletion of the portions that are exempted by law." Gov. Code section 6253(a).

The outcome of the case will directly affect access to a particularly important category of electronic records – police camera videos.² Access to these electronic records is essential to hold law

¹(...continued) cost of programming and computer services necessary to produce a copy of the record when either of the following applies:

⁽¹⁾ In order to comply with the provisions of subdivision (a), the public agency would be required to produce a copy of an electronic record and the record is one that is produced only at otherwise regularly scheduled intervals.

⁽²⁾ The request would require data compilation, extraction, or programming to produce the record.

² In August 2017, a study by the Urban Institute noted that "Police body-worn cameras (BWCs) are being rapidly and widely adopted by law enforcement." Urban Institute, *How Body Cameras Affect Community Members' Perceptions of Police* (August 2017) (https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/91331/2001307 -how-body-cameras-affect-community-members-perceptions-of-polic (continued...)

enforcement agencies and police officers accountable to the public they serve because police officers "hold one of the most powerful positions in our society; our dependence on them is high and the potential for abuse of power is far from insignificant.' (*City of Hemet v. Superior Court* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1411, 1428, 44 Cal.Rptr.2d 532.)" *Commission on Peace Officer Standards & Training v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 278, 299–300.

"Given the authority with which they are entrusted, the need for transparency, accountability and public access to information is particularly acute when the information sought involves the conduct of police officers." *Pasadena Police Officers Association v. Superior Court* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 268, 283. As the Legislature recently recognized, when it passed legislation requiring access certain peace office personnel records,

The public has a strong, compelling interest in law enforcement transparency because it is essential to having a just and democratic society.

Stats. 2018, Chap. 988, Sec. 4, added by Sen. Bill No. 1021, 2017-2018 Reg. Session (amending Pen. Code sections 832.7 and 832.8, effective January 1, 2019). See also, Stats. 2018, Chap. 960, Sec. 1, Assem. Bill 748, 2017-2018 Reg. Session (amending Gov. Code section 6254(f) by requiring access to police camera videos of a "critical incident").

²(...continued) e 4.pdf) (accessed Nov. 2, 2018)

The primary purpose of the legislation adding Gov. Code section 6253.9 to the Public Records Act is to "to ensure quicker, more useful access to public records." Sierra Club v. Superior Court, 57 Cal.4th at 174, quoting from Assem. Com. on Governmental Organization, Analysis of Assem. Bill 2799 (1999–2000 Reg. Sess.) as introduced Feb. 28, 2000, p. 2. But in its published opinion the Court of Appeal held in this case that the text of Gov. Code section 6253.9(b) permits an agency to charge labor and other costs of redacting exempt information from an otherwise existing public record, effectively making redacted records less accessible to those who cannot afford the price. Slip Opinion at 14 ["[L]awmakers drafted section 6253.9(b) to expand the circumstances under which a public agency could be reimbursed by a CPRA requester to include, among others, the circumstances present here wherein the agency must incur costs to acquire and utilize special computer programming (e.g. Windows Movie Maker software) to extract exempt material from otherwise disclosable electronic public records."].

The Court of Appeal's broad interpretation of section 6253.9(b) is infinitely expandable because electronic records are by definition the product of computer programming, including word processing software, portable electronic document (pdf) applications, and the like, as well as digitized photos and videos. Unlike paper records, it is usually impossible to redact electronic records manually. Yet the Court of Appeal has effectively given an open ended license to charge for the redaction of electronic records, including videos of police

activity. This will in turn make access to such records unaffordable to all but affluent requesters and provides an indirect means of allowing an agency to "close its doors to all those who do not have a full purse." *Murdock v. Pennsylvania* (1943) 319 U.S. 105, 112. So long as there are portions of an electronic record that can be digitally redacted, the Court of Appeal opinion turns the Public Records Act on its head by making transparency accessible only to those who can afford it. The digital divide that will price out many requesters when it comes to electronic records is a sharp and dramatic break from the core principles of the statute.

Government Code section 6253.9(b) is not nearly as broad as the Court of Appeal's construction. While the California Constitution, Art. I, section 3(b)(2), is intended to "further the right of access" and the preamble to the Public Records Act, expressly says "that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state" (Gov. Code section 6250), the Court of Appeal has regrettably reduced access. It has done so by allowing agencies to impose a price on such rights, a result that was not intended for routine redactions by the addition of section 6253.9 to the Public Records Act.

The Court of Appeal found the text of Gov. Code section 6253.9(b)(2) was "ambiguous" as to whether the Legislature had shifted the costs of redacting exempt material from electronic records to the requester. But Proposition 59, which added Article I, Sec. 3(b) to the California Constitution, must be applied to resolve

any ambiguity: "To the extent [a] standard is ambiguous, the PRA must be construed in ""whichever way will further the people's right of *access.*" Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors v. Superior Court (2016) 2 Cal.5th 282, 292, quoting Ardon v. Superior Court (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1176, 1190. Sierra Club v. Superior Court, 57 Cal.4th at 166 ("to the extent that legislative intent is ambiguous, the California Constitution requires us to 'broadly construe[]' the PRA to the extent 'it furthers the people's right of access' and to 'narrowly construe[]' the PRA to the extent 'it limits the right of access.' (Cal. Const., art. I, section 3, subd. (b)(2).)"). Had the Court of Appeal properly applied this constitutional imperative, it would have looked at whether allowing an agency to charge for redacting public records would reduce public access to public records. It never answered this question. In fact, the Court of Appeal never addressed it.

"[C]ase law recognizes that the CPRA should be interpreted in light of modern technological realities." *American Civil Liberties Union Foundation v. Superior Court*, 3 Cal. 5th at 1041. Inasmuch as government recordkeeping has changed and police technology has advanced over the past several decades, these changes and advances call for examination of the Public Records Act in light of practical realities.

Review should be granted.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Proceedings in the Superior Court

The National Lawyers Guild, San Francisco Bay Area Chapter [hereafter "Lawyers Guild"] requested records from the City of Hayward related to its police departments' actions in December 2014 while providing mutual aid in the City of Berkeley in connection with public demonstrations against the killing by police officers of Michael Brown in Ferguson, Missouri, and Eric Garner in Staten Island, New York. The killings received national attention, precipitating and renewing increased scrutiny of police conduct. The demonstrations resulted in injuries and arrests. The records requested included video captured by body worn police cameras used by members of the Hayward Police Department.

The records were requested pursuant to the Public Records Act. JA 6, 26. Hayward produced paper records and identified relevant body worn camera videos, which had previously been uploaded to a cloud based storage system known as "Evidence.com." JA 43. The videos were stored in an MP4 digital format. JA 50, 53.

City employee Nathaniel Roush identified the relevant videos. He took 4.9 hours for this task. JA 53-56. The Lawyers Guild then narrowed its request to about six hours of video, covering five police officers and three time periods. JA 7, 15. Adam Perez, the Police Department's records administrator, then edited the videos by redacting portions the City believed were exempt by law from mandatory disclosure. JA 81-148.

Perez used a publicly available computer program known as Microsoft Windows Movie Maker. JA 102-103. After working his way through the project, he ended up with redacted videos with some exempt portions of video and audio removed. JA 22-33. Perez took about 35.3 hours both learning and using Movie Maker to produce the disclosed videos. JA 164. The edited versions totaled 232 minutes. JA 26.

The City charged the Lawyers Guild \$2,939.58, using the time spent by Roush and Perez, multiplied by their hourly salaries, plus benefits. JA 164. The Lawyers Guild paid the charges and received the videos. JA 7-8,15-16, 26.

Subsequently, the Lawyers Guild requested additional video footage. JA 26-27. The City edited the responsive footage and made redacted copies available for \$308.89. JA 26, 75. While protesting this condition of production, the Lawyers Guild paid the requested charges so that it could promptly obtain the copies. JA 26. The Lawyers Guild paid the charges and received two videos totaling 65 minutes. JA 27.

The Lawyers Guild did not challenge the City's claim that redacted portions of the videos were exempt from mandatory disclosure. However, it filed this case for return of the money. JA 4.3

³ A requester may pay a challenged fee in order quickly to obtain copies of public records and then file suit under the Public Records Act seeking judicial review of the fee. *North County Parents Organization For Children with Special Needs v. Department of* (continued...)

In the superior court the City relied on two separate sections of the Public Records Act as the basis for the charges it imposed. First, it relied on Gov. Code section 6253.9(b)(2). Second, it relied on the catch-all test permitted by Gov. Code section 6255(a), which exempts disclosure of records when "on the facts of the particular case the public interest served by not disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record." The superior court addressed both contentions. Relying on the usual statutory restriction governing access to copies of the public records (Gov. Code section 6252(a)), it held that neither provision permitted Hayward to charge for anything other than the actual duplication of the redacted videos. JA 619, 625, citing Gov. Code sections 6253(a) and 6253.9(a); North County Parents Organization For Children with Special Needs v. Department of Education (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144, 147. The superior court said:

There is no indication in Government Code 6253.9(a) or (b) that the cost provisions concern time spent redacting exempt information from existing public records.

JA 627. The court noted that "if public agencies could routinely charge CPRA requesters for the costs related to the review and redaction of any electronic public records, then the cost of

³(...continued) Education (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 144, 148.

electronic records exception would swallow the general rule that public agencies can charge only for the direct cost of producing public records." JA 634.

The superior court then issued an order directing the issuance of a writ of mandate requiring the return of the money paid by the Lawyers Guild.

B. The Court of Appeal Opinion Reversing the Superior Court

The City confined the appeal to the scope of section 6253.9(b) and whether it permits charges for producing copies of the redacted police videos beyond the direct costs of duplication. It abandoned its contention that section 6255(a) justifies the charges in this case.

The Court of Appeal correctly stated the facts, which are not in dispute. The Court of Appeal correctly stated the issue: "Is the City entitled under section 6253.9, subdivision (b) (section 6253.9(b)) to recoup from the Lawyers Guild certain costs it incurred to edit and redact exempt material on otherwise disclosable police department body camera videos prior to the electronic public records' production?" Slip Opinion at 4. The Court of Appeal agreed that "at bottom, the parties dispute over what costs are recoverable by a public agency under section 6253.9, subdivision (b)(2) hinges on the statutory definition of the term 'extraction.'" Slip Opinion at 9. After finding the term ambiguous, Slip Opinion at 10, the court relied on an interpretation of legislative history that is directly contrary to this Court's finding that the Legislature did not address the cost of

redacting records in section 6253.9. *Sierra Club v. Superior Court*, 57 Cal. 4th at 175. The Court of Appeal reversed.

Following the Lawyers Guild's petition for rehearing the court modified its opinion, stating that the City may charge "to construct a copy of the police body camera video recordings for disclosure purposes, including the cost of special computer services and programming (e.g. Windows Movie Maker software) used to extract exempt material from these recordings in order to produce a copy thereof to the Guild." Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing; No Change in Judgment at 2. The Court of Appeal remanded to the trial court to determine precisely which costs, among those billed, the City is entitled to recover under section 6253.9(b). *Id.*

III. DISCUSSION

A. The Statutory Framework Governing Production of Electronic Public Records

The Public Records Act "establishes a presumptive right of access to any record created or maintained by a public agency that relates in any way to the business of the public agency[.]" *Sander v. State Bar* (2013) 58 Cal.4th 300, 323. The Act provides "that access to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state." Gov. Code section 6250; *Times Mirror Co. v. Superior Court* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1325, 1335.

The Act requires that "[e]xcept with respect to public records exempt from disclosure by express provisions of law, each state or local agency, upon a request for a copy of records that reasonably describes an identifiable record or records, shall make the records promptly available to any person upon payment of fees covering direct costs of duplication, or a statutory fee if applicable. Upon request, an exact copy shall be provided unless impracticable to do so." Gov. Code section 6253(b).

Due to the many statutory exemptions, the Act contemplates that some records will need to be redacted to delete exempt information before the records are disclosed. Therefore, "any reasonably segregable portion of a record shall be available for inspection by any person requesting the record after deletion of the portions that are exempted by law." Gov. Code section 6253(a); *Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors v. Superior Court* (2016) 2 Cal.5th 282, 300; *Northern California Police Practices Project v. Craig* (1979) 90 Cal.App.3d 116, 124.

"There is nothing in the Public Records Act to suggest that a records request must impose no burden on the government agency." *State Board of Equalization v. Superior Court* (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1177, 1190 n. 14. Government Code section 6253(b) restricts an agency from charging for more than direct costs of duplication or a statutory fee for disclosure of records. It is well settled that charges for the direct costs of duplication are limited to "the cost of copying" the records. *North County Parents Organization For Children with*

Special Needs, 23 Cal.App.4th at 147. This restriction on copying costs applies regardless whether a whole record is produced or a redacted (segregated) copy is produced. The Act makes no distinction. Gov. Code section 6253(b). Therefore, government agencies absorb most of the cost, including the cost of segregating out exempt portions of records.

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