IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NATIONAL LAWYERS GUILD, SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA CHAPTER.

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CITY OF HAYWARD, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S252445

Court of Appeal No. A149328

Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG15785743 (Hon. Evelio Grillo)

AFTER A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT DIVISION THREE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael S. Lawson (SB #048172)
City Attorney
Justin Nishioka (SB #278207)
Assistant City Attorney
City of Hayward
777 B Street, 4th Floor
Hayward, CA 94541-5007
Tel: (510) 583-4458
Fax: (510) 583-3660
Michael.Lawson@hayward-ca.gov
Justin.Nishioka@hayward-ca.gov

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

incurred by public agencies in providing copies of electronic records under circumstances now described in my bill."; Compare with, LH:429, author statement prior to §6253.9(b) amendment, previously stating that "opponents argue that requiring them to provide a document in a computerized form forces them to revise (or redact) certain documents so that confidential information is not included with public information," but then later saying that the author had "scheduled a meeting with opposition next week to listen to their concerns."]; LH:832 [DMV Enrolled Bill Report stating AB2799 clarifies that agencies "may charge the requester for producing a copy of a record, including the cost to construct a record as well as the cost of programming and computer services."]; LH:842 [State Pesticide Dept. Enrolled Bill Report, stating AB2799 "may create onerous tasks for those Department staff who must redact/delete protected information such as social security numbers, medical information, names," but "[t]his bill, as amended, provides for direct reimbursement and makes specific that requestor's will pay for programming time, albeit at the lowest programmer's pay level"]; LH:859 [Conservation Dept. Enrolled Bill Report, stating "Existing law provides ... that the requester may be a charged a fee associated with the direct costs of duplication," but "AB2799 specifies that direct costs shall include costs associated with duplicating electronic records," and "[t]his would include costs of programming and computer services associated with compilation and extraction of a record"]; LH:900 [Finance Enrolled Bill Report, stating "the requester of information would bear the 'direct cost' of programming and computer services necessary to produce a record not otherwise readily produced," and, "[t]herefore, any additional costs to the state would be paid by the requester" and local agencies could also "charge fees to cover those costs"]). After a review of the legislative history, the intent is irrefutable. Nothing whatsoever provides to the contrary. The Court of Appeal properly construed the term "extraction" as aligning with the City's plain reading and common-sense interpretation of the statute.

Before this Court is a question of intent, not law. The law is undisputed; both parties agree that a requester bears the cost of production if extraction is required. Only the Legislature's definitions are in question. Thus, the Court of Appeal looked to the legislative history to determine the intent of the statute, its meaning, and indeed there it found our answer. The intent is clear now, but the law has always been understood.

II. This Case Creates No Split from This Court's Analysis of the Legislative History in *Sierra Club*

Eighteen years ago, the Legislature adopted §6253.9(b) and the parties now seek to determine the meaning of a single word in that statute. No other decision specifically addresses the question before this Court. Yet the NLG relies on *Sierra Club*, a case concerning an entirely distinct statutory provision in

§6254.9 (not §6253.9), as a basis for questioning §6253.9's compelling legislative record regarding the term "extraction."

The NLG focuses on *dicta* within *Sierra Club* whereby this Court explains that agencies reviewing §6253.9 expressed concern over the amount of staff time required to perform redactions and the increased risk of unintentional disclosure of exempt material, and that "[t]he Legislature does not appear to have adopted any amendments in response to this concern, and documents in the Governor's Chaptered Bill File suggest that these concerns remained in effect through the final enrolled bill." [Petition at 35-36, citing Sierra Club at 174-175]. What the NLG misses is that this Court in Sierra Club was reviewing §6253.9 as it pertains to the disclosure of databases, not to address whether extractions may be invoiced by an agency. The lack of "amendments in response to this concern" referenced by this Court seems to regard the staff time that must be diverted by an agency towards the redaction of electronic records and the possibility of accidental disclosure of private, exempt material. The concern was not over whether that staff time redacting records could be charged to a requestor. It is true that opposition remained in effect, and that the complaint of staff diversion and accidental disclosure remained issues of debate. This compels the NLG to think that the remaining bill opposition was concerned over whether redactions were reimbursable, not simply that the opposition was opposed to the staff time that would be diverted for redactions from other agency tasks and

operations.

As noted above, it is true that after the inclusion of \$6253.9(b) opposition to the bill remained. Even though the 2000 amendment addressed agency concerns regarding extraction, the narrative of the bill opposition remained nearly identical despite the amendment. Admittedly, it is strange that following the amendment the opposition did not change its tune. This similarly baffled the author of AB2799. When answering the question of whether AB2799 still had opposition, the author responded by stating the following:

"Q — Is there still opposition?

A — Only one is registered. Amendments were recently adopted that have removed almost all the opposition. Opponents were concerned that this requirement would prove very costly to public agencies. To help alleviate their concerns, I amended the bill to address the costs incurred by public agencies in providing copies of electronic records under circumstances now described in my bill.

Consequently, the Association of Chief Clerks and Elections Officials, the County of Los Angeles, and the State Association of Sheriffs have removed their opposition. Orange County remains opposed; however, initially, they were opposed to the very issue, which the recent amendments rectified. In good faith, I adopted amendments to address their concerns. However, they refused to remove their opposition and stated that it is unnecessary to provide public records in electronic form. I regard their position as a barrier to improving access to public records and remain miffed by their breach in the negotiations." [LH:347].

Orange County did not withdraw its opposition even though amendments were drafted to address its cost concerns. Throughout the drafting of AB2799, Orange County continued to voice opposition based on the considerable time it takes to gather, copy and edit electronic records. (*See*, LH:280, [Bill Analysis, saying that "[t]he County of Orange claims that the costs of redacting exceed the amounts that legally they may charge for copies . . . [h]owever, the recent amendments to the bill should allay the County of Orange's objections."]; LH:865, [Water Resources Enrolled Bill Report, stating that the bill is "opposed by the County of Orange. Previous opposition from other local public agencies was withdrawn when provisions concerning the cost of reproducing electronic records were added."]; *See also*, LH:177, 187, 225, 243-244, 252-253, 263, 280, 282, 292, 297, 300, 333, 399, 827, 830, 838, 842, 853-854, 858,

865, 883, 893, 911-912, 973, 982, 1046, and 1152).

It is understandable that the NLG confuses the continued opposition to AB2799 as instructive. However, the author and agencies reviewing the legislation explain that the opposition to the bill was purely an obstructionist stance, not actually a position predicated on the desire for the inclusion of additional terms to remedy agency redaction costs. This Court's §6253.9 analysis in *Sierra Club* concerns staff time and accidental disclosure. It does not conflict with the indisputable legislative record concerning who must bear the costs associated with redacting electronic records.

This is a matter of first impression. There is no split in authority or challenge to the holding in *Sierra Club* by the Court of Appeal's ruling. The ruling by the Court of Appeal addresses the issue of whether the costs imposed by the City were authorized by §6253.9(b), and focused on whether the concept of redaction is encompassed in the term "extraction." This is distinct from this Court's analysis in *Sierra Club*, and therefore, "uniformity" remains. [California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1)]. There is no need for granting the Petition to further clarify the definition of "extraction."

III. The Supposed Policy Implications Posited by the Petition are Speculative and Controverted by the Record

There are clear differences between how the parties' view §6253.9(b). It is surprising, though, how many fundamental

principles on which the parties agree. Little distance exists as to each parties' belief concerning the general purposes of the Public Records Act. This is particularly true in terms of both parties wanting to improve transparency, and integrate systems that allow for greater disclosure, making more records available to requestors and expanding what is considered reasonably segregable.

The law and its plain meaning should guide a Court's decision when interpreting a statute. Plain meaning and legislative intent override any policy arguments put forth. Yet, generally a law is symbolic of a larger policy or principle, thus, the rhetoric the NLG promulgate should be addressed. The NLG claims that body-camera records will become out of reach to the average requestor. It argues that the Court of Appeal ruling "will in turn make access to such records unaffordable to all but affluent requestors." [Petition at 13]. Such a position ignores the realities of public requests for police body-camera video, and is not, in any way whatsoever, "mindful of the right of individuals to privacy." [§6250].

A. Extraction is Necessary to Protect Individual Privacy.

The NLG has argued that monitoring police activity is an important public interest. [Petition at 10-11]. The NLG is right. This is very important. Making sure police are not infringing on individual rights is essential to our democracy, and excessive force has appropriately become a key issue in the national dialog.

Still, the right of access to public records "is not absolute."

[Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior Court (2006), 39 Cal.4th 1272, 1282 ("Copley Press")]. Privacy is also important, and the Legislature acknowledged this declaring in §6250 that it was "mindful of the right of individuals to privacy." [Ibid.]. This "express policy declaration at the beginning of the Act bespeaks legislative concern for individual privacy as well as disclosure." [Copley Press at 1282.] And Proposition 59 similarly expressed this concern, providing additional "assurance" that the "right of access is not meant to supersede or modify existing privacy rights." [Bertoli v. City of Sebastopol (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 353, 366, citing Cal. Const., art. I, §3(b)(3).]

The PRA expressly protects privacy by setting forth "numerous" exemptions, "generally" involving documents or information "that for one reason or another should remain confidential." [*Ardon v. City of Los Angeles* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1176, 1182, citing §6254 (with subdivisions (a)-(z) & (aa)-(ad)); *See also*, §§6254.1-6254.33 & §§6275 - 6276.48 (providing additional exemptions).]

The balancing of privacy and disclosure is also reflected in §6253(a), which requires:

"Any reasonably segregable portion of a record shall be available for inspection by any person requesting the record after deletion of the portions that are exempted by law."

"In other words, the fact that a public record may contain some confidential information does not justify withholding the entire document;" rather, if possible, the agency is required to redact the "exempt" parts and "produce the remainder." [County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1336 (Santa Clara")].

Courts continually provide that the reason that the redaction of records is necessary is because individual privacy deserves protection. Never once does the NLG speak about the need for protecting individual privacy in its Petition. But privacy should not be ignored. It drives the entire opening sentence of the PRA and sets forth a mandate for the entire statute maintaining mindfulness to the right to privacy. Recouping the costs of redacting documents is a safeguard to this important interest. The fees authorized by §6253.9(b) create more access because they make many electronic records "reasonably segregable" under §6253, and allow for narrow, specific extractions of exempt material. Access, overall, is improved by the integration of §6253.9(b). But also, imposing costs for extracting exempt video allows thoroughness in the review of sensitive, private videos, to ensure that exempt information is not released. All interests are served by the City's imposition of fees and subsequent release of edited records, including both the interests of transparency and individual privacy.

While it is in the public interest to have body-camera videos available for public viewing, equally important, and arguably the most important interest, is the interest in the privacy rights of the individuals captured in the videos.

B. <u>Police Videos Typically Do Not Contain Much Exempt</u>

<u>Material, Therefore the Costs for Most Police Videos Will be</u>

<u>Negligible</u>.

A major focus by the NLG is on unsubstantiated claims that police videos will become too costly. There is no denying that the language in §6253.9(b) authorizing a city to impose certain costs will impose a burden onto requestors, however minimal that imposition may be.

Still, it cannot be overstated that most body-camera videos do not have anywhere near the volume of exempt material as the videos requested by the NLG. When looking at the plethora of police body-camera videos, particularly those videos where we see police kill unarmed people, most of these videos do not need anywhere close to the number of redactions required as the videos sought by the NLG. At most, the production costs for most videos would be equivalent to the cost of a couple extractions. Generally, police videos have very little, if any, exempt material within them, requiring minimal extractions, and thus, not costing the requester much, if anything at all. As such, most requests do not necessitate extracting enormous amounts of exempt material from several hours of videos such as those requested by the NLG.

The facts here are distinct. Six hours of videos were reviewed after the NLG agreed to temporarily narrow its request. [JA:353]. Such voluminous requests with overwhelming amounts of exempt material are the exception, not the norm. Most videos

will be affordable, and videos with no exempt material will be invoiced at the direct cost of duplication. Access will not be interrupted by the Court of Appeal's ruling.

These and other policy reasons show why the public is not burdened and in actuality benefit from §6253.9(b). Still, these policy arguments are superfluous in light of a plain reading of the statute and the supporting legislative history. The Legislature stated why it integrated §6253.9(b)—it wanted requesters to bear the costs of compiling, redacting, and programming electronic records. Our policy reasons are unimportant. Again, the arguments presented by the NLG, including the NLG's policy arguments, are a challenge to the Legislature and its adoption of the 2000 amendment integrating §6253.9(b), not an actual challenge to the law itself, as the statute's direction is clear, supported by irrefutable legislative support.

Conclusion

Other than the NLG, 'no one disputes that public agencies can be required to gather and segregate disclosable electronic data from nondisclosable exempt information, and to that end perform data compilation, extraction or computer programming if "necessary to produce a copy of the record." [Sander v. Superior Court (2018), 26 Cal.App.5th 651, 669, citing §6253.9(b)].

There is no question as to the purpose of §6253.9(b), only

of a definition, which the legislative record undeniably addresses, thus there is no question of law. Additionally, the Court of Appeal ruling does not conflict with this Court's ruling in *Sierra Club*, and thus uniformity of decision is maintained.

The Petition presents no proper ground for review.

Accordingly, the City respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition.